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TUGGERANONG VALLEY RUGBY UNION FOOTBALL CLUB INCORPORATED

Notice is hereby given that the 48th Annual General Meeting 
of the Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club 
Incorporated will be held at the Sports Bar, Erindale Vikings 
Club at 7:00pm on Tuesday 19th November 2019.

NB: Financial Members only will be admitted to the AGM 
and the doors will be closed at 7:00pm sharp and no further 
persons will be admitted until after the election of office 
bearers is completed. As per ACT legislation a list of eligible 
members is displayed at the TVRUFC Rugby Club Office at 
Viking Park. All eligible members must ensure they have paid 
their annual fee by 30 September.

Nomination forms for 2019/2020 Rugby Committee nominees 
are available on the Vikings Rugby Website or from Rugby 
Staff at the Rugby Club Office at Viking Park.

Note: Fully completed nomination forms must be received  
no later than COB (5:00pm) Tuesday 12th November 2019. 
The nomination form must be lodged in person to the Rugby 
Office staff before the deadline indicated above at the Rugby 
Office at Viking Park, 4 Amsinck St, Wanniassa.

Agenda:

1. Call to order 

1.1 Attendance

1.2 Apologies

2. Acceptance of Minutes

2.1 Business arising from previous minutes

3. Acceptance of Financial Statements and other 
Reports

3.1 President

3.2 Treasurer

3.4 Acceptance of 2018/2019 Financial Statements

NOTICE OF ANNUAL  
GENERAL MEETING 

4. General Business

5.  Election of Committee Members

5.1 President

5.2 Vice-President

5.3 Treasurer

5.4 Five other Members 

6. Close
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2019 ANNUAL REPORT

1. CALL TO ORDER

The President Brendan Allardyce opened the meeting at 
7:05pm and noted 48 voting members were in attendance, 
which constitutes a quorum. He called the 47th Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) of the Tuggeranong Valley Rugby 
Union Football Club (TVRUFC) Inc to order and thanked the 
members for their attendance. Mr Allardyce noted that Mr 
Ryne Bowden and Mr Lee Boswell would act as counters for 
any official votes of the 47th AGM, with Mr Graham Stripp to 
act as scrutineer.

1.1 Attendance

Attendance is as per the signed list at the entrance to the 
Richard Heher Sports Bar. 

1.2 Apologies

Apologises received: 
Mr Steven Moore 
Mr Duncan McMillan

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS AGM OF 21ST 
NOVEMBER, 2018

2.1 Business arising from previous minutes

Mr Allardyce asked those in attendance to consider the 
minutes of the 46th Annual General Meeting located on 
pages five (5) to six (6) of the 2018 Annual Report. The 
minutes were accepted by Mr Geoff Adam, seconded by  
Mr John McGrath.

3. ACCEPTANCE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
OTHER REPORTS

3.1 President’s Report

Mr Allardyce asked those in attendance to consider the 
President’s Report, found on pages twenty-nine (29) and 
thirty (30). Mr Allardyce first commented on the financial 
report reporting a positive surplus of $12 000 which he noted 
was an outstanding achievement from the 2018 Committee 
and staff considering the challenges faced throughout the 
year. Mr Allardyce commended the 2018 Committee and 
staff for their financial prudence. Mr Allardyce noted from 
the minutes of the 46th AGM a gesture from the Club to 
forgo a CPI increase on the grant from the Licence Club 

2018 ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING MINUTES

for 2018 and 2019, a good will gesture to the Licence Club 
that recognised the challenging operating environment 
the Licence Club works in. Mr Allardyce reported the CPI 
increase forgone totalled $24 000.

Mr Allardyce reported that he was proud of the off-field 
strategic objectives achieved by the Club, including the 
Club’s work with the Licence Club and their Charity of the 
year, player welfare and support, the work with the Modified 
Rugby Program, the focus on women’s and girls’ Rugby 
resulting in the launch of the WRAP program, the initiation 
of an Indigenous Action Plan, the enhanced member 
experience at Viking Park and the Sports Bar (Zoo), the 
successful overseas tour to Singapore and the broadening of 
volunteers, sponsors and the Club’s social media.

Mr Allardyce reported on the Club’s on-field success, noting 
that the Club had won the ACT Club Championship, that all 
6 grades had played in their Grand Final and that three (3) 
of those had won their Grand Final and that the Club had 
received awards for highest point scorer, volunteer of the year 
and other notable achievements.

Mr Allardyce reported that he had met with the other Club 
Presidents on the 13th of November and that they were all 
cooperating and working to improve Club Rugby.

Mr Allardyce concluded by thanking the Committee, staff, 
Licence Club Directors and Senior Management, sponsors 
players, support staff and their families.

3.1.1 Jim Shonk

Mr Jim Shonk asked Mr Allardyce how the Club could 
improve on it’s success from 2018. Mr Allardyce answered 
by noting that there were several young players progressing 
from the Colts to grade Rugby and that this would help the 
Club continue to see on-field success.

4. GENERAL BUSINESS

4.1 Brendan Allardyce 

Mr Allardyce asked those in attendance to recall that at 
the 46th AGM Mr Adam had asked those in attendance to 
recognise several long-standing members to be recognised 
as life members. Mr Allardyce reported that it was a personal 
view that there was an injustice that Mr Sean Blackmore had 
not been recognised and that he should be considered for 
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Life Membership. Mr Allardyce spoke for Mr Blackmore and 
his contribution as a member of the Club and that he should 
be commended for his service and dedication. Mr Russell 
Ott seconded the nomination for Life Membership. Those 
in attendance were asked to vote in favour for or against 
Mr Blackmore’s nomination for Life Membership by secret 
ballot. Mr Bowden and Mr Boswell counted the votes and 
were scrutineered by Mr Graham Stripp. The results of the 
secret ballot were provided to Mr Allardyce, who thanked 
the counters and scrutineer. Mr Allardyce confirmed that 
the majority were in favour for Mr Blackmore receiving Life 
Membership and asked those in attendance to join him in 
congratulating Mr Blackmore.

5. ELECTION OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Mr Allardyce declared that those in attendance would now 
elect Committee members for 2019 and that all positions 
were vacant. Mr Allardyce then handed over the position of 
Chair to Mr Geoff Adam.

5.1  President

Mr Adam noted that there had been only one (1) nomination 
for President for 2019, the nominee being Mr Allardyce. As a 
result, Mr Allardyce was re-elected to President and resumed 
as Chair of the meeting.

5.2  Vice-President

Mr Allardyce noted that there had been only 1 nomination for 
Vice-President for 2019, the nominee being Mr Adam. As a 
result, Mr Adam was re-elected to Vice-President.

5.3  Treasurer

Mr Allardyce noted that there had been only 1 nomination for 
Treasurer for 2019, the nominee being Mr Slater. As a result, 
Mr Slater was re-elected to Treasurer.

 
 

2018 ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING MINUTES 
(CONT)

5.4  Five Other Members

Mr Allardyce noted that there had been only four (4) 
nominations for five (5) positions for general Committee 
members and that as per the constitution those members 
are automatically elected. The 4 nominees were Mr Duane 
Petersen, Ms Stefanie Stewart-Jones, Mr Michael Henry 
and Mr David Grimmond. Mr Allardyce congratulated the 
nominees on their election to the Committee. Mr Allardyce 
noted that there was 1 vacancy on the Committee and that 
as per the constitution he would call for nominations off the 
floor. Mr Sean Blackmore nominated Mr Russell Ott for the 
vacant Committee position. Mr Ott accepted the nomination, 
seconded by Mr Jim Shonk. Mr Ott spoke to his nomination 
and requested that those in attendance elect him to serve on 
the Committee in 2019. Mr Allardyce then called for any other 
nominations from the floor, to which there were none. As the 
only nominee, Mr Ott was elected to the 2019 Committee.

6. CLOSE

Mr Allardyce thanks all those in attendance and closed 
the 47th AGM of the TVRUFC at 7:35pm.
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

 2

Statement by Committee Members 
 
The number of Committee meetings held during the year and the number of meetings attended 
by each Committee member were as follows: 

 
 

Name Role Attended Meetings Total 2019 

     
entitled to 

attend 
Meetings  

Held 
         
Brendan Allardyce (Elect 21/11/2018) President 12 12 12 
Geoff Adam (Elect 21/11/2018) Vice President 12 12 12 
Ryan Slater (Elect 21/11/2018) Treasurer 11 12 12 
David Grimmond (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 12 12 12 
Stefanie Stewart-Jones (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 7 12 12 
Duane Petersen (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 10 12 12 
Russell Ott (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 11 11 12 
Michael Henry (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 11 12 12 
Darren Mullaly (Res 21/11/2018) Committee Member 0 1 12 
Callum Smith  Club Captain 9 12 12 
 
 
The principal activities of the club during the financial year were administering the playing of 
rugby union football by the club’s members. No significant change to these activities occurred 
during the year. 
 
The club’s net surplus for the financial year was $40,686 (2018: $12,268 surplus). 
 
 

      
Brendan Allardyce Ryan Slater 
President Treasurer 
11 November 2019 11 November 2019 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 September 2019  
 

 
Note 2019 

$ 
 2018 

$ 

Revenue     

Grant Revenue  667,094  667,094 

Sponsorship Revenue  194,016  198,256 

Trust Revenue  54,000   53,700 

Other Income 4 127,664  179,503 

Total revenue  1,042,774  1,097,553 

 
Expenditure 
Salaries and Wages 

 
 
 

 
 

(266,526) 

  
 

(259,985) 

Coach and Player Related Costs 5 (303,427)  (324,602) 

Support Staff   (48,851)  (33,510) 

Sponsorship  (35,894)  (80,420) 

Functions  (129,460)  (121,701) 

Depreciation  (29,320)  (7,100) 

Other Expenses 6 (188,610)   (257,967) 

Total expenditure  1,002,088  (1,085,285) 
Net surplus/(loss) for the year  40,686  12,268 
Other Comprehensive Income  -  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  40,686  12,268 

     

This statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 September 2019 
 

 
Note 2019 

$ 
 2018 

$ 
ASSETS     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 7(a) 207,138  151,592 

Trade and other receivables  69,894  132,632 

Prepayments  40,145  3,212 

Investments 8 94,729  88,428 

Total current assets  411,902  375,864 

     
Non-current assets     
Investments 8 780,000  780,000 

Property, plant and equipment 9 42,392  29,330 

Total non-current assets  822,392  809,330 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,234,294  1,185,194 

     
LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 10 58,930  82,192 

Income in advance  26,290  - 

Provisions 11 45,252  39,866 

Total current liabilities  130,472  122,058 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  130,472  122,058 

NET ASSETS  1,103,822  1,063,136 

     
EQUITY     
Retained earnings  1,013,822  973,136 
Capital Improvements  30,000  30,000 
Players’ welfare fund  40,000  40,000 
Tour Reserve   20,000  20,000 

TOTAL EQUITY  1,103,822  1,063,136 
 
 

This statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

  5

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 
 Retained Players’ Capital Tour Total Member 

 Earnings Welfare Fund Improvements Reserve Funds 

 $ $ $  $ 

      

At 1 October 2017 960,868 40,000 30,000 20,000 1,050,868 

Surplus attributable to members 12,268 - - - 104,308 

At 30 September 2018 973,136 40,000 30,000 20,000 1,063,136 

Transfer to retained earnings - - - - - 

Surplus attributable to members 40,686 - - - 40,986 

At 30 September 2019 1,013,822 40,000 30,000 20,000 1,103,822 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

This statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

  6

Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 September 2019 
 

 
Note 2019 

$ 
 2018 

$ 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
     

Receipts from customers  1,092,944  980,121 
Interest received  537  1,391 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,001,286)  (997,915) 
Dividends received  5,729  5,163 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

7(b) 
97,924  (11,240) 

     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment   (42,382)  (17,372) 

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES 

 
(42,382)  (17,372) 

     
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

 
55,542  (28,612) 

     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING 
OF YEAR 

 
151,592  180,204 

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 
YEAR 

  
7(a) 207,138  151,592 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

  7

Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
Note 1: Corporate information 
 
The financial statements of Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated (the 
“Club”) for the year ended 30 September 2019 were authorised for issue on 2 November 2019. 
The Club is an association incorporated in Australia under the Associations Incorporation Act 
(ACT) 1991.  
 
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Club are described in the “Statement 
by Committee Members”. 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
(a) Basis of Preparation  
The financial report is a special purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board – Reduced Disclosure Requirement and the Associations Incorporation Act 
(ACT) 1991. The financial report has been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial 
assets held for trading which are measured at fair value. The financial report is presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the dollar unless otherwise stated. 
 
b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
 
The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) has issued a number of new and amended 
Accounting Standards that have mandatory application dates for the 2020 financial year, some 
of which are relevant to the Club. The applicable Accounting Standards and their impact that are 
relevant to the Club are set out below: 
 
AASB 16: Leases (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 
This Standard replaced the previous accounting requirements applicable to leases in AASB 117: 
Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model that 
eliminates the requirement for leases to be classified as operating or finance leases. 
 
The main changes introduced by the new standard are as follows: 

 new lessee accounting requirements for leases at significantly below-market terms and 
conditions (commonly known as 'peppercorn leases') principally to enable the lessee to 
further its objectives. This requires the lessee to recognise the leased asset / right-of-use 
asset at fair value per AASB 13, the lease liability per AASB 117/AASB 16 and the 
residual as income (after related amounts) at the inception of the lease per AASB 1058; 
and 

 recognition of a right-of-use asset and liability for all leases (excluding short-term 
leases with less than 12 months of tenure and leases relating to low-value assets); 

 depreciation of right-of-use assets in line with AASB 116: Property, Plant and 
Equipment in profit or loss and unwinding of the liability in principal and interest 
components; 

 inclusion of variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate in the initial 
measurement of the lease liability using the index or rate at the commencement date; 

 application of a practical expedient to permit a lessee to elect not to separate  
 non-lease components and instead account for all components as a lease; and 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
 

  8

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 

 inclusion of additional disclosure requirements.  

The transitional provisions of AASB 16 allow a lessee to either retrospectively apply the 
standard to comparatives in line with AASB 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors or recognise the cumulative effect of retrospective application as an 
adjustment to opening equity on the date of initial application. 
 
The Committee confirm that the adoption of AASB 16 has not and is unlikely to have a 
significant impact on the Club's financial statements given the short-term nature of the Club’s 
lease arrangements. 
 
AASB 1058: Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (applicable to annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019) 
This standard is applicable when an entity receives volunteer services or enters into other 
transactions where the consideration to acquire the asset is significantly less than the fair value 
of the asset principally to enable the Club to further its objectives. 
 
The significant accounting requirements of AASB 1058 are as follows: 

 Income arising from an excess of the initial carrying amount of an asset over the related 
amount being contributions by owners, increases in liabilities, decreases in assets and 
revenue should be immediately recognised in profit or loss. For this purpose, the assets, 
liabilities and revenue are to be measured in accordance with other applicable 
Standards. 

 Liabilities should be recognised for the excess of the initial carrying amount of a 
financial asset (received in a transfer to enable the Club to acquire or construct a 
recognisable non-financial asset that is to be controlled by the Club) over any related 
amounts recognised in accordance with the applicable Standards. Income must be 
recognised in profit or loss when the Club satisfies its obligations under the transfer. 

 A private sector not-for-profit entity may elect to recognise volunteer services or a class 
of volunteer services as an accounting policy choice if the fair value of those services 
can be measured reliably, whether or not the services would have been purchased if 
they had not been donated. Recognised volunteer services should be measured at fair 
value and any excess over the related amounts (such as contributions by owners or 
revenue) immediately recognised as income in profit or loss. 

The transitional provisions of this Standard permit an entity to either: restate the 
contracts that existed in each prior period presented in accordance with AASB 108 
(subject to certain practical expedients); or recognise the cumulative effect of 
retrospective application to incomplete contracts on the date of initial application. For 
this purpose, a completed contract is a contract or transaction for which the Club has 
recognised all of the income in accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions. 
The Committee confirm that the adoption of AASB 1058 has not and is unlikely to have 
a significant impact on the Club's financial statements. 
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Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football Club Incorporated 
Year Ended 30 September 2019 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value.  
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
cash equivalents as defined above. 
 
d) Trade and Other Receivables 
 
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 days terms, are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
allowance for impairment. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis at an operating level. 
Individual debts that are known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. An impairment 
provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Club will not be able to collect 
the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor and default payments are considered objective 
evidence of impairment. The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount 
compared to the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. 
 
e) Impairment of Assets 
 
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
 
The Club conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of 
information to assess for any indicators of impairment. External factors, such as changes in 
expected future processes, technology and economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for 
indicators of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset's 
recoverable amount is calculated. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater 
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is the depreciated replacement cost 
of an asset when the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent on the 
asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows and where the club would, if deprived of the asset, 
replace its remaining future economic benefits. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
f) Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as 
follows: 
 Equipment   5 years  
 Scrum Machines 5 years 
 Gymnasium Gear 5 years 
 Car   5 years 
 Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each financial year end.  
 
f) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
 
g) Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade payables and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. These liabilities represent amounts for goods and services provided 
to the Club prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Club becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
h) Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
entity and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Grants and sponsorships 
Revenue is recognised when the Club’s right to receive payment is established. 
 
Sale of Goods 
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 
passed to the buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably. Risks and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time 
of delivery of the goods to the customer. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
Rendering of Services 
Where the outcome can be reliably measured: 
 control of a right to be compensated for the services has been attained and the stage of 

completion can be reliably measured. 
 revenue from goods and services is recognised by reference to stage of completion. Stage of 

completion is measured by reference to the right to be compensated for services being attained. 
 
Where the outcome cannot be reliably measured: 
 revenue is recognised only to the extent that costs have been incurred. 
 
Interest 
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the 
relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. 
 
i) Taxes 
 
Income Tax 
As the Club is a non-profit organisation wholly directed towards sporting objectives, the Club is 
exempt from income tax under current Income Tax legislation, and no provision has been 
recognised for tax. 
  
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
 When the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 
 Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 
 
j) Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
k) Employee Leave Benefits 
 
Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of 
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled.  
 
l) Players’ Welfare Fund 
 
This account represents a reserve to provide financial assistance for the players’ welfare.   
 
m) Investments 
 
Investments and financial assets are categorised as either financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial 
assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or 
originated. Designation is re-evaluated at each reporting date, but there are restrictions on 
reclassifying to other categories. 
 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Recognition and derecognition 
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the 
Club commits to purchase the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive 
cash flows from the financial assets has expired or when the entity transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the financial assets. If the entity neither retains nor transfers substantially all 
of the risks and rewards, it derecognises the asset if it has transferred control of the assets. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
The Club’s investment in shares are classified as held for trading and included in the category 
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”. Financial assets are classified as held for 
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term with the intention of making 
a profit. Gains or losses on financial assets held for trading are recognised in profit or loss and the 
related assets are classified as current assets in the statement of financial position. 
 
(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets  
The Club’s investment in a unit trust for the Bunnings Belconnen Site is designated as available-
for-sale. After initial recognition available-for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with 
gains or losses being recognised as other comprehensive income until the investment is 
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in other operating income. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d) 
 
The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date. 
For investments with no active market, fair values are determined using valuation techniques. 
Such techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current 
market value of another instrument that is substantially the same and discounted cash flow 
analysis; and option pricing models, making as much use of available and supportable market 
data as possible and keeping judgemental inputs to a minimum. 
 
n) Provisions 
 
Provisions are measured at the best estimate (including risks and uncertainties) of the expenditure 
required to settle present obligation, and reflects the present value of the expenditures required to 
settle the obligation where the time value of money is material. The committee has raised a 
provision for medical costs based on historical medical expenditure items in the last 3 years for 
injuries relating to the prior season. 
 
o) Comparative amounts 

 
Where necessary, the figures for the previous year have been reclassified and repositioned for 
consistency with current year disclosures. 
 
 
Note 3: Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management 
continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent 
liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates on historical 
experience and on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
result of which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions. 
 
Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant 
judgements, estimates and assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions and conditions and may materially affect financial results or the 
financial position reported in future periods. 
 
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience as well as 
manufacturers’ warranties (for plant and equipment) and turnover policies. In addition, the 
condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the remaining 
useful life. Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary. 
 
Estimation of fair value for available for sale financial assets 
The Club has made a significant judgement in the estimation of the fair value of its available for 
sale financial assets. The available for sale financial assets relate to the Club’s investment in a 
unit trust for the Bunnings Belconnen Site. There is no active market for this investment and the  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 3: Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)) 
 
 
Club has made the judgement that independent market advice is the best available evidence of its 
fair value. 
 
 

 2019 
$ 

 2018 
$ 

Note 4: Other Income    
    
Rugby Tour -  60,282 
Functions 23,668  27,161 
Social Club 42,945  30,573 
Player Registrations 24,293  26,601 
Interest Income 537  1,391 
Unrealised (Loss) on Investments at Fair Value 

Through Profit and Loss 
6,301  (1,997) 

Merchandise of Gear  14,304  12,370 
Rent  8,438  6,955 
Other Income 7,178  16,167 
 127,664  179,503 

 
 

 2019 
$ 

 2018 
$ 

Note 5: Coach & Player Related Costs     
    
Coach Recruitment 160  88 
Coach & Player Reimbursement 28,380  14,993 
Medical Costs 64,621  114,601 
Development Costs 82,826  81,086 
Players Clothing  75,913  59,475 
Juniors Support 18,373  24,639 
Unit & Rugby House Expenses 30,231  29,720 
Welfare 2,923  - 
 303,427  324,602 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
  

2019 
$ 

 
2018 

$ 
Note 6: Other Expenses 

   
    

Playing Fees incl Players Insurance  34,473 
 

25,820 
Rugby Tour - 

 
106,631 

Laundry of Jumpers 5,364 
 

4,804 
Training Costs  3,468 

 
6,104 

Playing Day Costs 3,540 
 

2,419 
Accounting & Audit 6,582 

 
6,268 

Pre-Season  - 
 

1,055 
Bank Fees & Other Charges 1,262 

 
1,693 

Honorarium 4,000 
 

4,000 
Printing Postage & Stationery 2,512 

 
3,995 

Photos & Videos 18,599 
 

10,833 
Social Club Expenses 25,876 

 
14,706 

Professional Development 227 
 

(7,735) 
Insurances 9,397 

 
6,624 

Merchandise  7,092 
 

905 
Phone & Internet 3,419 

 
2,295 

Donations & Representative Support 3,793 
 

11,680 
Other Expenses  59,006 

 
55,870  

188,610 
 

257,967 
 
 
 
Note 7: Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 2019 
$ 

 2018 
$ 

    
Cash at bank 207,138  151,592 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
b) Reconciliation of net profit to the net cash flows from operations 
 

Total comprehensive income (loss)  40,686  12,268 
    
Non-cash items    
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 29,320  7,100 
Fair value loss from investments (6,301)  1,997 
    
Changes in assets and liabilities    
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 62,738  (116,291) 
(Increase) /Decrease  in prepayments (36,933)  9,974 
Increase /(Decrease) in trade and other payables 3,028  66,314 
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions 5,386  7,398 
Cash flows from operating activities 97,924  (11,240) 

 
 
Note 8: Investments 

 2019  2018 
 $  $ 
    
Shares listed on the Australian Stock Exchange – 
held for trading – at fair value 

94,728  88,428 

Unit Trust Holding in Bunnings Belconnen Site – 
at fair value (see below) 

780,000  780,000 

 874,728  868,428 
    

Current Asset 94,728  88,428 
Non-Current Asset 780,000  780,000 
 874,728  868,428 

 
 
 
Note 9: Property Plant & Equipment 

 2019 
$ 

 2018 
$ 
 

Other Equipment – at cost 82,069  145,295 
Accumulated Depreciation (79,027)  (129,780) 
 3,042  15,495 
    
Car – at cost 34,090  - 
Accumulated Depreciation (5,342)  - 
 28,748  - 
    
Scrum Machines – at cost 21,484  21,484 
Accumulated Depreciation (15,184)  (13,084 
 6,300  8,400 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

   

    
Gym Equipment – at cost 61,942  56,150 
Accumulated Depreciation (57,640)  (50,715) 
 4,302  5,435 
    
Total Property Plant & Equipment 42,392  29,330 

 
 
 
Note 10: Trade and Other Payables  
 

 2019 
$ 

 2018 
$ 

    
Trade payables  21,071  52,133 
Taxes payable (receivable)  25,004  16,054 
Superannuation 5,855  8,005 
Accrued expenses 7,000  6,000 
 58,930  82,192 

 
 
Note 11: Provisions  
 

 2019  2018 
 $  $ 
Players Medical  25,000  25,000 
Employee benefits for:     
- Annual leave 20,252  14,866 
 45,252  39,866 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Note 12: Related Party Disclosures 

 
(a) Details of Key Management Personnel 

The Committee of the Club during the financial year were: 
 

Brendan Allardyce (Elect 21/11/2018) President 
Geoff Adam (Elect 21/11/2018) Vice-President 
Ryan Slater (Elect 21/11/2018) Treasurer 
David Grimmond (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 
Stefanie Stewart-Jones (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 
Duane Petersen (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 
Michael Henry (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 
Russell Ott (Elect 21/11/2018) Committee Member 
Darren Mullaly (Res 21/11/2018) Committee Member 
Callum Smith  Club Captain 

 
(b) Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

There was no compensation of key management personnel during the financial year apart 
from a $4,000 honorarium paid to the President (2018: $4,000). 

 
(c) Related Party Transactions 

The Club acknowledges the related party relationship with the Tuggeranong Valley Rugby 
Union and Sports Club Limited (the Licensed Club).   
 
The Committee do not consider that it exercises control over the Licensed Club as any 
management decisions made by the Licensed Club are independent of the Club. 
 
The following related party transactions occurred during the financial year: 
 

 Grants received from the Licensed Club totalled $667,094 (2018: $667,094).  
 The Club received from the Licensed Club other minor incidental benefits 

such as free beverages during the year.  All other transactions were on normal 
commercial terms and conditions. 

 
 

Note 13: Commitments and contingencies 
 
There are no commitments or contingencies at reporting date. 
 
Note 14: Events after reporting date  
 
Callum Smith resigned as Club Captain on the 21 October 2019 and was replaced by Joe 
Langtry per the constitution on 21 October 2019. 
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AccountAbility (ACT) Pty Ltd  
ACN: 088 095 354 
 

PO Box 776, Mitchell  ACT  2911 
 

Telephone: 02 6170 6870 
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Email:  admin@accountabilitywft.com.au 
www.accountabilitywft.com.au 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE 
TUGGERANONG VALLEY RUGBY UNION FOOTBALL CLUB INCORPORATED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
 
I have audited the financial report of the Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football 
Club Incorporated (the Club), which comprises the statement of financial position as 
at  30 September 2019,  the  statement  of  comprehensive  income,  statement  of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and 
the Statement by Committee Members. 
 
In my opinion the  financial report of the Tuggeranong Valley Rugby Union Football 
Club  Incorporated  has  been  prepared  in  accordance  with  Australian  Accounting 
Standards and the Associations Incorporation Act (ACT) 1991, including: 
 

a) giving a true and fair view of the Club’s financial position as at 
30 September 2019 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; 
and 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Associations 
Incorporation Act (ACT) 1991. 

 
Basis for Opinion 
 
I  conducted  my  audit  in  accordance  with  Australian  Auditing  Standards.    My 
responsibilities  under  those  standards  are  further  described  in  the  Auditor’s 
Responsibilities  for  the  Audit  of  the  Financial  Report  section  of my  report.    I  am 
independent  of  the  Club  in  accordance  with  the  ethical  requirements  of  the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics  for 
Professional Accountants  (the Code)  that are  relevant  to my audit of  the  financial 
report in Australia.  I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 
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I  believe  that  the  audit  evidence  I  have  obtained  is  sufficient  and  appropriate  to 
provide a basis my opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Committee for the Financial Report 
 
The Committee of the Club is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the  financial  report  in  accordance with  Australian  Accounting  Standards  and  the 
Associations  Incorporation  Act  (ACT)  1991,  and  for  such  internal  control  as  the 
Committee determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial report, the Committee is responsible for assessing the Club’s 
ability  to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters  related  to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Committee 
either  intends  to  liquidate  the  Club  or  to  cease  operations,  or  has  no  realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
The Committee is responsible for the Club’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report 
as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that  includes my opinion.   Reasonable assurance  is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing  Standards will  always  detect  a material misstatement when  it 
exists.   Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material  if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 
 
As part of an audit  in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards,  I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
 
I also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Club’s 
internal control. 
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 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the 
Club. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Club’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Club’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify my opinion.  My conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.  However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Club to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
report, including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
I communicate with the Club regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including when considered necessary 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
 
 
AccountAbility 
 

 
 
Anthony Wilson 
Registered Company Auditor 
Canberra, ACT  
11 November 2019 
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As my last year as treasurer of the Vikings Rugby Club, I have 
the positive news to report that the club produced another 
surplus in the 2018/2019 financial year of $40,686. This result 
shows the continued strong frugal mindset of the committee 
while broadening our current rugby programs and providing an 
environment where both players and coaches can continue to 
succeed. Vikings rugby is now in a position where we are not 
only able to assist with our own senior programs but provide 
assistance and strong pathway into senior rugby. In 2019/2020 
the club will introduce the satellite academy for local school 
aged children within the area and the widening of the Vikings 
senior rugby club to now also focus on the U15, U16, 18’s 
development. While this will put an increased strain on the club’s 
resources it is not only going to bring a long-term benefit to the 
club but the whole rugby community in Canberra.

In 2019, the committee again reached its budgeted turnover 
of over $1 million. This is the second year in a row the club has 
been able to do this and is made more significant with no future 
rugby tour funds included in the 2019 revenue figures. The clubs 
Bunnings investment continues to perform well supplying the club 
a strong return on investment while the club’s share continue to 
deliver an 8% return.

The club did see expenses fall in 2019, however this was mainly 
due to the club not going on tour in 2019 and the reduction in 
medical costs due the provision raised by the committee in 2018. 
In saying that, all medical associated expenses continue to be 
a strong burden on the club’s bottom line as prices continue 
to rise in lieu of private health care rebates. The club however 
is committed to continue to provide the best medical policy for 
amateur sport in Australia. 

On behalf of the Committee, I would like to thank all our sponsors 
in particular the Licensed Club for their continued support and 
commitment to the Vikings Rugby Club. It is the support from 
our sponsors and supporters that allow us to continue to operate 
in an environment that is one of the best in Australian Rugby in 
developing and providing pathways for players and coaches at 
all levels. I look forward to seeing the rugby club further develop 
these significant relationships into the future. 

TREASURER’S 
REPORT

A special mention must also be made to our Rugby Manager 
Ryne Bowden who, in his second year has continued to work 
closely with all our sponsors to ensure both them and the rugby 
club can continue to benefit by working together. The rugby 
club is in a great position in securing the services of Ryne for 
another 2 years which I am sure will only continue to see the 
club prosper.

Lee Boswell is to be commended for his continued efforts both 
on and off the field. His job is very demanding with long hours 
and the playing groups on field performance can be put down to 
his strong work ethic. 

I must also thank Nick Scrivener for his support and efforts 
during the year. While the performances on the field did not go 
our way in 2019 the current background work Scriv is doing 
currently is to be commended and I am sure 2020 will see the 
resurgence of Vikings rugby on field.

In closing, I would like to thank the continued support I 
have received from all the licensed clubs staff members and 
Directors, all Committee and rugby staff members. I have been a 
committee member for 7 years now and part of the executive for 
6 of those. I have seen 3 coaching directors, 4 rugby managers 
and 2 Athletic performance managers come and go and all have 
left a positive impact on the club and myself as I hope I have 
done over the years.

As the saying goes, you always wish to leave a place in better 
hands than when you joined it. Although we didn’t have the 
most successful year on the field as in previous years, I am very 
proud that we as a committee have been able to ensure positive 
cash flow and the continued development of our rugby program 
year on year.

Ryan Slater 
Treasurer



29

2019 ANNUAL REPORT

On-Field, 2019 was a challenging season from wo to go. 
Despite the challenges, we are pleasingly, a club that does 
not makes excuses. Ultimately, it was an enormous credit to 
the resolve of the playing, coaching and support staff groups 
that by August, we had still placed ourselves in a position to 
compete in Semi-Finals and Grand Finals.

5 of 6 teams in Semi-Finals was pleasing, two teams both 
eliminated by penalty goals after the final siren, in semi and 
prelim finals was heartbreaking but then having our top two 
teams confidently into Grand Finals on the last weekend 
was looking very positive. Premier 2nd Grade were brave 
and never gave in, but lost a close Grand Final. Premier 
1st Grade were agonisingly so close to back to back 
premierships but lost the JID Cup Grand Final by a solitary 
point, in a classic nail biter. A tough season, with some 
disappointments, but we as a club should still be very proud 
of our efforts in 2019.

Off-Field, we continue to be Canberra’s most progressive 
club, the family club, the benchmark and pace setters. 
Our outstanding work with charities, community groups, 
sponsor partners, juniors and our members is all top shelf. 
We have very strong financial, strategic and operational 
platforms to meet future challenges and to ensure we remain 
the destination club. At the time of writing I am pleased to 
announce that despite significant medical and investment 
spends, we shall again record a small surplus of $40K  
setting up our financial position strongly for the future.

As we have always done, we will regroup for 2020, review, 
retain, recruit and develop rugby talent to our exacting high 
standards and ensure that our tilt at winning 2020 silverware 
is both ferocious and dogged. We particularly look forward to  
the youth of our club driving us forward, from our very young 
1st and 2nd Grade squads to a depth laden Colts squad, 
emerging ViQueens and in 2020, all of our Under 16s and 
18s boys and girls aligning to the senior club. It will be an 
exciting off-season and pre-season, including our Fiji tour 
that will help set us up for a great season in 2020. 

Thank you

Vikings Group and Sponsor Partners – it is not possible  
to run a best practice sporting club without the financial  
and in-kind support of all our sponsor partners, thank you.

Committee and Full Time Staff – we are very lucky to have a 
hard working committee and three outstanding professionals 
running our club, thanks to the 9 person committee and 
particularly to Nick Scrivener, Lee Boswell and Ryne 
Bowden, for all the tireless work to run our great club.

Coaches, Managers, Medical, S&C, trainers/strappers  
and general volunteers – We are spoilt with a legion of 
hardworking and positive people, the best in the business, 
thank you.

Old Boys, Members and our Junior Club – thank you for your 
involvement and support.

To all our players, thanks for the continuing blood, sweat and 
tears, you make us proud.

Have a great off-season and bring on 2020.

Brendan ‘Trendy’ Allardyce 
Proud President

PRESIDENT’S 
REPORT
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What a whirlwind of a season! 2019 is finally behind us, 
although, it feels like only yesterday we were preparing for 
Round 1. We didn’t quite get the chocolates in 2019, but 
there is still a lot for the Club to be proud of this year.

We were incredibly fortunate to be supported by a broad 
team of Sponsors and Partners, who aren’t just loyal 
supporters of the Club, but genuine people with a love 
for Rugby and Vikings. In 2019, we welcomed back over 
20 of our sponsors and partners from the previous year. 
We broadened our Platinum partnership, welcoming Rolfe 
Classic BMW, Slaven Mazda, O’Neills Sportswear, Capital 
Maintenance Solutions and Petherbridge Roofing to the 
Vikings Family. We also welcomed no fewer than 10 new 
sponsors as Silver Partners and Player Sponsors in 2019,  
a great testament to the diligent work by the Committee  
and Rugby Office.

Our Sponsors and Partners are the life blood of our Club. 
Their support helps our Rugby Club to provide for over 170 
players and 50+ volunteers an unmatched environment when 
it comes to development opportunities, registration, medical 
support, apparel, equipment, facilities, social events and of 
course, an outstanding experience out on the pitch.  
From the entire Rugby Club, thank you again to our  
Sponsors for joining the Vikings Family in 2019.

We also enjoyed some fun times as a Community thanks  
to our diverse Events Calendar. Ladies Day was a huge 
success in its new venue and our annual Hagar’s (Old  
Boys) Day was a fitting celebration for several teams that 
celebrated a milestone in 2019. The Marymead Charity Game 
raised over $3000 for a fantastic cause and the playing kit 
donned by 1st Grade was once again a master stroke of 
ingenuity by the Kit Sub-Committee. Our Annual Sportsman’s 

RUGBY  
MANAGER’S  
REPORT

Luncheon was one of our biggest and best, guest speakers 
Matty Johns, Dan McKellar and a host of Brumbies sharing 
their unique stories to make for a cracking afternoon.  
And our Presentation Night was a really special evening at 
Lanyon Vikings where several very deserved members of our 
Club were recognised for their enormous contributions on 
and off the field.

The most pleasing part of 2019 for me personally was finally 
seeing the Modified Rugby Program (MRP) commence at 
Vikings, making our Club the first outside of Queensland 
to host this incredible program. For those unaware of the 
MRP, it is a program that allows children with learning and 
perceptual difficulties to play a touch-only version of Rugby. 
The MRP taught the children all the basic skills of Rugby and 
allowed them to become a part of our Club and community. 
It was really special seeing the progression of the children 
and the confidence shown by their parents to allow them to 
play Rugby. A special mention must go to MRP Coach Ben 
Pratt who did an outstanding job running the program for 
the Club, we picked the right guy.

A very special thank you to our team of support staff and 
volunteers for their efforts in 2019. Each faced their own 
challenges this year but once again did a fantastic job to 
support the playing group through another season.  
Your work certainly doesn’t go unnoticed and I am incredibly 
thankful to have you all at our Club, your passion for the 
Vikings and Rugby is infectious and the Club certainly 
couldn’t function as seamlessly without you.

This was my first year at the Club not being involved as a 
player. Without the need to juggle my duties as a Rugby 
Manager and a player on a Saturday, I certainly saved myself 
a lot of stress and found a lot more time on my hands,  
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but I have definitely missed the thrills of playing, competing 
and a little sadistically, the rigours of training. Regardless,  
I have really enjoyed 2019 and all that we were able to 
achieve on and off the field as a Club. A special thank you  
to several people, for making sure I didn’t miss a beat:

To Trendy, Geoff and Slats – the amount of support you have 
provided me this year has been fantastic. Your passion for 
Vikings, it’s players, and its extended network is admirable 
and I hope that in years to come I can emulate the same level 
of tenacity you have for the Club’s success. Thank you for 
helping me get the most out of my time here.

To the Committee – thank you for your work behind the 
scenes and your constant support despite your own 
commitments. I’ve had a lot of fun working with each of you 
this year and your ideas and initiatives are always welcomed 
and appreciated.

To Scriv and Bozzy – it would certainly make for a sour 
old time if we didn’t get along. I’m very appreciative that 
I’ve been given the opportunity to work alongside two very 
professional and skilled people and I look forward to learning 
more from both of you.

Thanks for a great 2019, see you all in 2020. 

Go Vikings!

Ryne Bowden 
Rugby Administration Manager

REPORT (CONT)
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Sacrifice and hard work……

These are two words that come to mind when I look back  
at 2019! 

When I think back to the start of our Academy and JDS 
programmes in November 2018, I think about the new faces 
and the old faces that make the journey down to Viking Park 
to better themselves, to strengthen bonds and to build on 
our Rugby community. 

Results are rewarded in different forms! Self-satisfaction, 
recognition from your peers, positive outcomes. There are 
times when trophies reflect the hard work, and then there’s 
times when the sacrifices aren’t rewarded with trophies! 
Either way the undercurrent of our great club will continue  
to build no matter what we face.

With a strong contingent of local talent mixed with some 
Stannis horse power we are paving the way forward for the 
next generation, and the next wave of recruitment will also 
see us in a strong space to continue to “Raise the Bar”.

JUNIORS

Our Juniors stood at the top of the Club scene this year,  
and continue to impress in a great year for the young 
Vikings. We stood shoulder to shoulder with the two 
strongest Rugby schools in Canberra, St Edmunds and 
Marist. Over the year some of the highlights were our U9’s 
and the U14s girls, who showed some great results and 
went on to win their respective Grand finals along with the 
Div.3 U11’s, Div.2 U12’s and the Div.3 U15’s. Our Div.2 
U13’s, Div.1 U14’s and the Div.1 U16’s where unlucky  
on the day but did themselves and the Club very proud.

What makes these achievements memorable are that we 
equalled St Edmunds and Marist in their representation for 
teams in a GF and wins!  

Marist had 8 teams in with 4 wins, 4 losses. St Edmunds 
had 7 teams in with 5 wins, 2 losses, and we had 8 teams  
in with 5 wins, 3 losses. The next best were Wests with  
7 teams in with 4 wins, 3 losses and Qbn and Gungahlin had 
4 teams in with no wins.

Our Junior Club and their hardworking committee continue 
to strive to keep participation and inclusiveness at its core 
and this is reflected in all of our age groups from U8s through 
to U18s with boys and girls across the age groups. A big 

congrats to Andrew Henderson on being awarded a life 
membership to the Junior Club! This is a great reflection 
on Hendo’s dedication to the Juniors, his energy and his 
passion. To all the Junior committee, Coach’s, Managers, 
First aiders and Volunteers, a big congrats to you all for a 
stellar year.

SCHOOLS

The local school scene in the Valley is still going strong.  
With our work in the local high schools and colleges I had 
started to see the faces from these schools turn up in our 
15s’, 16’s and 18’s numbers.

Erindale College Rugby TSP continues to be the leader 
in Rugby development and opportunities to play against 
a higher standard in the Valley. Although the powers that 
be in the NSW schools’ systems attempt to road block 
opportunities we have still been able to source opportunities 
for the boys and girls to play against some formidable 
opponents.

The relationships formed with the teaching staff at the 
respective schools continues to build! With Mark and Daniel 
at Erindale, Dom and Matt at Mckillop, Denzil and Trent at St 
Edmunds and Madeleine at Wanniassa, who are all running 
fantastic programmes within their schools that we are very 
fortunate to be involved with. I look forward to continued 
growth and prosperity in the future.

Our plan going forward is to establish more relationships  
with Valley schools, to continue to work alongside the 
Brumbies programmes and continue to give our local kids a 
great pathway and environment right in their own backyard.

RUGBY PROGRAMMES 

This coming year we will look to grow our Junior 
Development Pathways to greater heights! Building on the 
past 6 years of the JDS we will look to add more resources 
and Senior involvement into the older age groups, extend 
our coaching assistance into the U13 and U12 age groups, 
and continue to provide coaching resources and sessions  
for the Junior coaching cohort.

Along with these initiatives we will add to our Rugby 
programmes the “Satellite Squad”, an opportunity for us  
to showcase our professionalism to those elite level  
school-based Valley players. This will run parallel to our  
already successful “WRAP” and “V-Academy” programmes.

DEVELOPMENT  
OFFICER’S REPORT
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The more opportunities that our Club can provide to enhance 
participants skill sets will only bare great fruit in the years to 
come, not only for our Club but also for our region. 

These programmes cannot operate without GREAT people 
and GREAT sponsors! I’d like to thank those that have  
assisted greatly in these programmes. To Travis Pula, who has  
been a massive resource that I have been able to lean on 
throughout the JDS and U18s this year! Thanks mate. 
To Andrew Henderson and Ant Davies for their ongoing 
assistance with the JDS programme, two great blokes to 
have around and two great representatives from the Junior 
Club. To Stef Stewart-Jones and Peta Leddy for their drive 
and commitment in propping up and supporting our WRAP 
programme, many thanks ladies. To Rich Locke and Albert 
Mahanga for your continued and valued work with the 
V-Academy programme, we are very fortunate and lucky  
to have you part of our Vikings family. And lastly to Dave 
Mailau and NCG Global - without thier ongoing support of 
our Club and development pathways we would not be able 
to add the level of professionalism to what we do, it is and 
always will be greatly appreciated.

REPRESENTATIVE HONOURS

Another year on and we are continuing to see more of 
our Juniors and Seniors recognised in the higher levels of 
representative Rugby, from ACT to Australian.

From the likes of young Wally Wentzal in the U14s to his older 
brother Jake from the U16s alongside some of his fellow team 
mates in Zac Scott, Josh Weir, Matt Levika, Andrew Soulo, 
Ranier Abel and Ollie Faitua. Daryl Baily was selected for the 
second year in a row into the ACT Schoolboys and the ACT 
U18s. 

In our Colts age group, we saw a raft of our boys selected 
into the ACT U18’s and U19s. The likes of Tom Hooper,  
Jed Englert Reece Chin, John Madjaga, TJ Sione, TJ Ikatau, 
Tom Brewar and Turi Hides.

Cooper Takaeta and Jack Wright made their debuts for the 
ACT Griffins this year as well. Also, to Seamus Smith,  
Tom Hooper and Billy Carberry who made appearances for 
the Brumby Runners earlier in the year.

On the National U20s scene we saw Noah Lolesio and 
Lachlan Lonergan represent our Club and Country at the 

Junior World Cup, a notable mention to Seamus Smith who 
narrowly missed out on the final cut! But non the less a great 
achievement. 

To Our ViQueens who represented in the second year of the 
Super W. Congrats to Stef Stewart-Jones, Peta Cox, Emily 
Sogal, Remi Wilton, Taylor Stanford, Shellie Milward and 
Michaela Leonard. To Shellie and Michaela, a big congrats 
on representing our Club and Country with the Wallaroos this 
year.

To Angus Wagner, Lachlan Lonergan, Darcy Swain, Luke 
Gersekowski, Angus Allen, Seamus Smith, Ryan Lonergan, 
Joe Powell, Noah Lolesio, Len Ikitau and Andrew Robinson 
for their selection into this years NRC Canberra Vikings, 
congrats lads on the recognition of your hard work and 
efforts.

THE WRAP UP

2019 has been tucked in and kissed good night! We will 
dream of new things and greater heights as we lay passage 
into the 2020 season, with bright things on the horizon we will 
continue to underpin all we do with sacrifice and hard work 
and an unrelenting desire to always “RAISE THE BAR”

I’d like to again thank all of the committee for their passion for 
our great Club! It is what drives me to continue to be better, 
to chase the best results and strive for a better place to be a 
part of.

To Bowdo, thanks for being a champion of a bloke! For 
always making the workplace a thoroughly enjoyable 
place to lob up to everyday and for your high standard of 
professionalism. 

To Scrivy, for constantly showing the way forward and 
bringing a high standard of passion and drive into this season, 
even amongst some challenging times.

Well...Let’s get it on and get the job done.

Cheers Y’all.

Lee Boswell 
Pathways Development and Athletic Performance 
Manager
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AWARD WINNERS  
2019

MAJOR AWARDS WINNER

Highest Try Scorer Jeremy Mututu – 16 Tries

Highest Points Scorer Andrew Dickson – 177 
Points

Forward  
Encouragement

Jack Wright

Back Encouragement Jed Englert

Rookie of the Year Tom Hooper

The Greg Hayes Award Freddie Pitasi

Mark Wentworth 
Memorial Award

Joel Morris

Player Clubman Ben Pratt

Clubman of the Year Ian Chattin & Grant 
Lukins

Player of the Year Len Ikitau

1ST GRADE WINNER

Coaches Award Andrew Robinson

Players Player Luke Gersekowski

Best & Fairest Angus Wagner

2ND GRADE WINNER

Coaches Award Ethan Brazel

Players Player Richard Joyes

Best & Fairest Seamus Smith

COLTS WINNER

Coaches Award Tom Hooper

Players Player Kieran Reilly

Best & Fairest Jed Englert

3RD GRADE WINNER

Coaches Award Swaniso Puteho

Players Player Joel Morris & Justice 
Henderson

Best & Fairest Justice Henderson

4TH GRADE WINNER

Coaches Award Joel Morris

Players Player Matt Wafer

Best & Fairest Cameron Shaw

VI-QUEENS WINNER

Coaches Award Peta Leddy

Players Player Ema Masi

Best & Fairest Rhianna Burke

U18 - DIVISION 2 WINNER

Coaches Award Shane Lee

Players Player Teaora Tai

Best & Fairest Jordan Van Aalst
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COACHING 
2019 presented significant challenges for the club, especially 
given the successes of 2018.  First and foremost was to 
identify the successful areas that underpin our program that 
we could continue and enhance and identify other areas 
where we felt change was necessary to continue to ‘Raise The 
Bar’. One of these areas was in our coaching set up which we 
restructured with new additions in Robbie Kydd and James 
Foster doing colts, Gav Sinclair and Grant Lukins running 
3rds and 4ths ably assisted by Freddie Pitasi, Matt Wafer and 
others, Brendan Allardyce moving from Colts to 2nd grade 
Head Coach assisted by Lix Lealiifano, Duane Peterson and 
Beau Mokotupu. The Vi-Queens were led by Head Coach 
Graham Reed, assisted by Geoff Adam and Peter Hawke.  
We also appointed a club skills coach in Pat Langtry who was 
a very valuable addition.  These new coaching appointments 
were in addition to existing 1st grade assistant coach Gareth 
Clouston, and seniors forwards/scrum coach Brett Naylor. 
I’m very pleased to report that the new coaching regime 
at the club did a wonderful job and exemplified the rugby 
club’s ongoing commitment to providing top quality coaching 
resources for all of our players.

SUPPORT STAFF 
Similarly, the other support staff we have at Vikings are  
second to none. From team Managers, assistant Managers 
and others who generally help out we are blessed with the 
time and effort these people give our club every week.  
They are the first to arrive and the last to leave every session, 
every game, every week - our rugby club could not survive 
without them and while they often do not get recognition,  
our volunteers are the lifeblood of the club. 

MEDICAL 
This year we had 51 players play first grade and even more 
play 2nd grade – this is significantly more than what is 
normally considered a high turnover year. The professionalism 
and dedication of our medical team - Doc Pete Cole,  
Doc Ewen Bradbury, Physio Kate Wafer, our trainers Richard 
Lock, Damien Davies, Andrew Glew, Colleen Gould, Peter 
Hawke, Laura King and Chrisy Richardson continues to be 
one of the great points of difference for our club.  In addition 
to their face to face interactions, they spend countless hours 
behind the scenes communicating with the rugby staff so 
the players have every opportunity to get diagnosed, treated, 

rehabilitated and back onto the field. As an example,  
on our group medical WhatsApp chat with Dr Pete Cole,  
Dr Ewen Bradbury,  
Kate Wafer, Lee Boswell and myself, we had over 1700 
different conversations as they reported injuries, organised 
scans, discussed rehab plans etc.. !

STRENGTH AND CONDITIONING 
Again, the strength and conditioning program available to 
players at the Vikings was first class. Our players are well 
prepared and given every opportunity to maximise their 
physical development. Lee Boswell was in charge of the 
Strength and Conditioning program throughout the off season, 
pre-season and in season phases. Lee was ably supported by 
Richard Lock. An enormous amount of work is put in by Lee 
in the senior club assessing workloads, interpreting GPS data 
and programming the various strength phases throughout the 
season – all to get our players in the best shape they can be 
in the big games. In addition, Lee works tirelessly across all 
programs in juniors to ensure the next generation of Vikings 
are identified and well prepared. The work of Richard and 
others in the rehabilitation of injured players and also providing 
skills coaching for the lower grades was greatly appreciated 
by everyone.

The focus again this year was the notion of ‘one club’,  
that everyone was valued and every player and every team 
had an important role to make the club as good as it could 
be. While club spirit cannot always be measured, I think 
the philosophy of “Club, Team, Me” stood us in good stead 
when we were under pressure and played a crucial part in 
the on-field success of the club. Due to the massive injury toll 
sustained during the season, it was the lower grade players 
and colts who had to step up and often play double games 
so we could field teams. Their commitment to the club was 
outstanding as week after week they turned up, rolled their 
sleeves up and got on with it.

I would also like to thank Ryne Bowden for his hard work 
behind the scenes this year. The hard work Lee and Ryne put 
in behind the scenes to keep Vikings running efficiently is a 
testament to their professionalism and dedication to our rugby 
club. The ability of Ryne to deal with the many unexpected 
challenges that arise on a day to day basis in a large sporting 
club is crucial to making our club the best it can be.

COACHING  
DIRECTOR 

REPORT



TUGGERANONG VALLEY RUGBY UNION FOOTBALL CLUB INCORPORATED

36

REPORT (CONT)

SPONSORS 
To all of our sponsors, thank you. The quality of our rugby 
programs and the success of the club this year simply 
wouldn’t happen without the assistance of our sponsors. 
We are fortunate at Vikings that our partners are more than 
financial partners, they care deeply about the club and are a 
very important part of the Vikings family. On behalf of all of us 
at Vikings, a very big thank you again and we look forward to 
continuing these relationships.

1ST GRADE 
In terms of the 1st Grade Season, the pain of losing a  
Grand Final by 1 point will never be extinguished.  
However, there were so many positives, including having 
both 1st grade and 2nd grade in the Grand Final. Having 51 
players play and experience 1st grade will be a huge blessing 
in disguise for our club in years to come. This year also 
illustrated more than anything that we are a club that gives 
young players opportunities to step up if needed - we had 7 
colts aged players involved in the 1st grade grand final.  
This should be great motivation for everyone aspiring to play 
up the grades and for the older more experienced players to 
set the standards and lead the way - at  the end of the day we 
want our players not to just be happy to be in first grade,  
but to do whatever they can to be very good first grade 
players. In terms of the rugby, we played some magnificent 
footy this year. We were challenged and our resilience was 
tested in what is a very good 1st grade competition, however 
after some early setbacks we knuckled down and had a very 
good run of 9 games without loss in the middle of the season 
which ultimately sealed our Minor Premiership.

In terms of results, we finished the total season with 11 wins, 
2 draws and 4 losses (all of which by 8 points or less).   
We came up short in the Grand Final, however there was  
a lot to be proud of.

We won the Minor Premiership, we finished the year with the 
Bob Hitchcock Shield and we won back the Wal Scollen Cup 
against Royals. 

I would like to thank the Committee for their support this year. 
The Committee work hard behind the scenes on various fronts 

to provide an environment at our rugby club which is inclusive, 
enjoyable for everyone and ultimately successful. In particular, 
thank you to Brendan Allardyce as President and 2nd grade 
coach for his support and being a fantastic  sounding board.

I would also like to thank the players who represent us all 
every Saturday. We have a wonderful group of men and 
women at our club. We welcomed new players this year, 
many from the country and they all bought into what we are 
doing here and added significantly to the fabric of the rugby 
club. We are blessed to have good rugby players but also 
outstanding people who wear our colours every weekend and 
who also form a very close-knit playing group.

Lastly, we look forward to next season. Plans are well 
underway to make improvements in all aspects of our 
program. We will embark on an off-season Academy program 
in early November. We will travel on an overseas preseason 
tour to Fiji involving two games in early March which will give 
us a fantastic springboard into the season.  We have plans 
to become a lot more involved in the U16s and U18s age 
groups to provide a greater link and pathway to the senior 
club. Many people on many fronts are working hard to make 
being involved with the Tuggeranong Vikings a wonderful 
and rewarding experience for players, staff, sponsors and 
supporters. 

The pain of coming so close but ultimately missing the 
opportunity to become Club Champions and Premiers will 
drive us in our pursuit of excellence and I look forward to 
working with everyone to ensure our club continues to be 
successful.

Go Vikings - Club, Team, Me.

Nick Scrivener 
Coaching Director
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ROUND HOME TEAM RESULT AWAY TEAM VENUE

1 Tuggeranong 26-29 Gungahlin Viking Park

2 Wests 47-47 Tuggeranong Jamison Oval

3 Tuggeranong v Bye

4 Uni-Norths 22-27 Tuggeranong North Oval

5 Tuggeranong 50-29 Queanbeyan Viking Park

6 Gungahlin 26-25 Tuggeranong Nicholls Oval

7 Tuggeranong 80-17 Easts Viking Park

8 Tuggeranong v Bye

9 Tuggeranong 49-21 Wests Viking Park

10 Royals 17-54 Tuggeranong Phillip Oval

11 Tuggeranong 29-20 Uni-Norths Viking Park

12 Queanbeyan 28-37 Tuggeranong Campese Oval

13 Gungahlin 33-33 Tuggeranong Nicholls Oval

14 Easts 5-66 Tuggeranong Griffith Oval

15 Tuggeranong v Bye

16 Tuggeranong 63-14 Wests Viking Park

17 Tuggeranong 22-17 Royals Viking Park

Semi Tuggeranong 13-21 Royals Viking Park

Prelim Tuggeranong 34-31 Uni-Norths Viking Park

GF Royals 32-31 Tuggeranong Viking Park
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The 2019 Vikings Reserve Grade (the scooby-doos, reggies, 
dirty 2s, twosa paloozas) were a pleasure to work with.  
A large playing group with a mix of old and young embraced 
the squad mentality and apart from some very close losses 
to the undefeated Gungahlin 2nds, were able to win every 
other game to be the best offensive and defensive team in the 
competition.

We had such a mix – several veterans with over 200 games 
for the club, 18 year old colts in their 1st year for the club, 
aspirational players that rose to the challenge from previously 
being in lower grades. 

We had a very positive atmosphere and climate within the 
team and the coaches kept encouraging 2nd grade to play 
like 1st graders who just happen to be stuck in 2nds –  
we also asked them to work harder than their opponent and 
do the simple things well - boy did they respond. 

We used 51 players and funnily enough averaged 51 points 
per game to be an attacking machine. We met every target 
and finished the year 2nd (with daylight 3rd). Our best 
performance of the year, was undoubtedly the Major Semi 
Final when we brutally and clinically defeated the previously 
undefeated Eagles scoring almost 50 points to storm into 
the GF. It’s true we couldn’t repeat it two weeks later and 
although brave, we just couldn’t quite topple a truly amazing 
Eagles 2nds GF outfit. Despite the GF loss, it was still a high 
performing and enjoyable year.

Thank you’s – thanks to all coaches, especially Scriv, Gareth 
and Nayls for their guidance and work rate from above and 
particularly to Lix, Duane and Mokas – legends of the club. 
Mokas was an occasional helper often coaching from home, 
Duane was present the vast majority of the time and has a 
great relationship with the players and has been an awesome 
support to me. Lix was enormous – he is a very talented 
backs and potential head coach honing his craft, whom the 
players respect enormously. Well done gents.

To our managers – Ian Chattin, Peter Chapman (and when 
possible Sean Blackmore). Thanks gents for your positive 
player-centred can-do approach. In particular Chats – a 
veracious work ethic, leaving no stone unturned in player care. 
Thanks also to our full time staff, Bowdo for admin and Boz 
and Rich for S&C, our medical staff and trainers/strappers as 
always, but particularly to Laura King (physio) who was on the 
sideline for every 2nd grade game.

Congratulations to our award winners

Coaches Award  
Ethan Brazel - Accepted the challenges and worked hard  
as a great team man.

Players Player 
Richard Joyes - The evergreen veteran was the heart and soul 
of the team and someone the boys loved following.

Best and Fairest 
Seamus Smith - A sensational young captain who dominated 
the competition.

Thanks to all for an enjoyable year.

Brendan ‘Trendy’ Allardyce 
2nd Grade Coach

2ND GRADE 
REPORT
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ROUND HOME TEAM RESULT AWAY TEAM VENUE

1 Tuggeranong 31-33 Gungahlin Viking Park

2 Wests 21-33 Tuggeranong Jamison Oval

3 Tuggeranong v Bye

4 Uni-Norths 14-38 Tuggeranong North Oval

5 Tuggeranong 68-17 Queanbeyan Viking Park

6 Gungahlin 19-11 Tuggeranong Nicholls Oval

7 Tuggeranong 57-12 Easts Viking Park

8 Tuggeranong v Bye

9 Tuggeranong 71-5 Wests Viking Park

10 Royals 13-19 Tuggeranong Phillip Oval

11 Tuggeranong 31-5 Uni-Norths Viking Park

12 Queanbeyan 26-29 Tuggeranong Campese Oval

13 Gungahlin 36-21 Tuggeranong Nicholls Oval

14 Easts 0-69 Tuggeranong Griffith Oval

15 Tuggeranong v Bye

16 Tuggeranong 46-21 Wests Viking Park

17 Tuggeranong 52-15 Royals Viking Park

Semi Gungahlin 26-46 Tuggeranong Viking Park

Prelim Tuggeranong v Bye Viking Park

GF Tuggeranong 11-24 Gungahlin Viking Park
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COLTS 
REPORT

The Colts were a relatively young and inexperienced team 
in 2019 but also a very talented one. We started the season 
promisingly going unbeaten through the first four games with  
a couple of good wins against Gunghalin and eventual 
winners Queanbeyan. The early success no doubt built 
around the simple fact that we were fitter than the opposition, 
a big thanks and well done to Boz and Rich and the work they 
did in preseason for ensuring this. The lopsided makeup of the 
competition was evident very early in the season and it was 
apparent that only three teams were going to pose an issue 
for the colts; Royals, Quenbeyan and Gunghalin. 

Injuries and call ups to higher grades impacted the Colts 
midseason and we suffered some close and hardfought 
losses against the three big guns. The years highlight 
was going undefeated at home during the regular season 
culminating with our best performance of the year vs Royals 
in the last round, winning by 30. However, looking back the 
turning point came against our away match vs Queanbeyan a 
few rounds earlier where we lead 19-3 just before 1/2 time but 
went on to lose not just the match but also our ability to finish 
in the top 2 which ultimately may have contributed to our 4th 
place finish, which whilst 4th was disappointing was probably 
a fair reflection of our season. The boys went down fighting 
in their semi-final vs Queanbeyan where they led for ¾ of the 
match but failed to convert a wealth of possession into points 
and lost on the final siren to a penalty kick; heartbreaking 
stuff but no doubt invaluable experience for the young team 
moving forward.

A big thanks to Browny, Dave and especially the human 
salmon Foz for all the time and work they put in throughout 
the year, we had a lot of laughs and good times, mainly at 
the expense of Browny. Also Scriv, Trendy and Langers for all 
the support and coaching the Colts and coaches received. 
Thanks also to the many support staff. 

The Colts for 2020 will no doubt be stronger and wiser for 
the lessons of this year and the fact the squad is only losing a 
handful of players means next year’s squad will be inherently 
more experienced and capable of delivering silverware.

Congratulations to our award winners

Coaches Award  
Tom Hooper

Players Player  
Keiran Reilly

Best and Fairest 
Jed Englert

Cheers,

Robbie Kydd 
Colts Head Coach

TUGGERANONG VALLEY RUGBY UNION FOOTBALL CLUB INCORPORATED
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ROUND HOME TEAM RESULT AWAY TEAM VENUE

1 Tuggeranong 26-14 Gungahlin Viking Park

2 Wests 5-24 Tuggeranong Jamison Oval

3 Tuggeranong v Bye

4 Uni-Norths 7-47 Tuggeranong North Oval

5 Tuggeranong 36-10 Queanbeyan Viking Park

6 Gungahlin 26-10 Tuggeranong Nicholls Oval

7 Tuggeranong 47-24 Easts Viking Park

8 Tuggeranong v Bye

9 Tuggeranong 45-7 Wests Viking Park

10 Royals 27-19 Tuggeranong Phillip Oval

11 Tuggeranong 27-19 Uni-Norths Viking Park

12 Queanbeyan 27-19 Gungahlin Viking Park

13 Gungahlin 24-15 Tuggeranong Nicholls Oval

14 Easts 5-48 Tuggeranong Griffith Oval

15 Tuggeranong v Bye

16 Tuggeranong 54-7 Wests Viking Park

17 Tuggeranong 33-5 Royals Viking Park

Semi Queanbeyan 24-21 Tuggeranong Viking Park

Prelim

GF
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The 2019 season was long and very tough for the Vikings  
third grade side. At times we struggled to pull together enough 
players. We relied heavily on fourth grade for assistance in 
making up the numbers when needed. Despite this the boys 
showed enthusiasm, energy and commitment  
to make it through the season finishing in seventh place, just 
shy of finals.

We started the season with a strong win at home against 
Gungahlin, 22-0. We also secured a convincing win against 
Easts, 69-0. We had a number of draws throughout the 
season, which didn’t help us on the ladder. The team 
travelled away to play games against Cooma and Goulburn, 
sharing lots of laughs on the bus trips back to Canberra. 
Unfortunately, we didn’t make finals this year but we finished 
the way we started with a hard-earned win against Wests 
36-26.

This season we also celebrated several milestones. Cameron 
Shaw played his 100th senior level game against Easts. 
Andrew Dickson received the highest point scorer award and 
also reached 2500 points all-time for the Club, a total unlikely 
to be beaten for a long time! Also to Ryan Slater who played 
his 200th game for the Club in unspectacular circumstances.

Thank you to all the players including those in fourth grade 
who helped us out. I also want to thank Freddie Pitasi, 
Brendan Montgomery, Grant Lukins and Matt Wafer for 
supporting me and helping coach the team.

I have no doubt that third grade will bounce back and have 
lots of success in 2020.

Gavin Sinclair 
3rd Grade Head Coach

3RD GRADE 
REPORT
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ROUND HOME TEAM RESULT AWAY TEAM VENUE

1 Tuggeranong 22-0 Gungahlin Viking Park

2 Goulburn 59-7 Tuggeranong Simon Poidevin Oval

3 Tuggeranong 17-34 RMC Viking Park

4 ADFA 65-0 Tuggeranong Dowsett Field

5 Royals 28-16 Tuggeranong Phillip Oval

6 Hall 61-0 Tuggeranong Hall Showground

7 Tuggeranong 69-0 Easts Viking Park

8 Tuggeranong 20-38 Wests Viking Park

9 Tuggeranong 5-5 Uni-Norths Viking Park

10 Queanbeyan 21-31 Tuggeranong Campese Oval

11 Cooma 28-28 Tuggeranong Rotary Oval

12 Easts 0-20 Tuggeranong Griffith Oval

13 Tuggeranong 12-47 Hall Viking Park

14 Tuggeranong 36-26 Wests Viking Park

15

Semi

Prelim

GF
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A very different season for Fourth Grade. While many of the 
score lines looked like the dominant team of the past few 
years was at it again these results came from a lot more hard 
work and effort than previously required. A mass of injuries 
and other obstacles meant that our lower grades had to 
have a squad mentality when it came to fielding teams in 
Threes and Fours this year. This lack of players meant many 
backing up to play two games per weekend for the entire 
season. This took its toll on bodies old and young and in 
the end a single point after the bell was enough to keep us 
from the big dance and another shot at eventual champions 
Queanbeyan who had just beaten us by three points the 
weekend before.

Although it was a tough year and not the result we were 
after, this season was not without its rewards. Highlights 
were many and varied. Watching several of last years Fourth 
grade alumni graduate to higher grades, including one game 
where four players on the field for Ones had strapped on the 
boots for Fours last year is always great to see. There was 
Ryan Slater’s 200th game which, despite a plethora of tries 
and his celebration at the zoo that night, has gone down as 
only the second best 200th game of all time (thanks Dave 
Paull). Andrew Chewy Dickson scored his 2500th point 
and secured his spot as both the clubs greatest all time 
point scorer and club legend. And who could forget Kaleb 
“Cadbury” Dalla Costa single handedly ruining the boat race 
in hall but redeeming himself later in the year by carrying the 
team with his vocal prowess in the red faced competition.

Beyond individual success, this year was about the team 
working for each other. Many players played out of position 
to cover their teammates throughout the year including 
appearances at both Halfback and Fly Half by a strong 
and skillfull loose forward who is more known for hanging 
around the Centres than playing in these vital roles. Perhaps 
however, the greatest example of this was “that day”  
in Cooma when 16 blokes played beyond what anyone 
thought was possible. Following players like Matt “The self 
appointed Snow Plow” Wafer and Geoff “Ogre” Adams lead, 
the boys dug deep and put on an outstanding display of 
rugby toughness and earnt the respect of all present.  
They later built on that by taking out the previously 
undefeated boat race team (Cadbury was not invited to 
participate).

I cannot thank those who turned up week in week out 
enough. From players to support staff, we have worked 
together to get the most out of this season and can certainly 
walk away with our heads held high. A massive thank you to 
Mick Bryant who jumped in to help us out when we needed 
him most, Gav Sinclair, Matt Wafer and Ryan Slater for their 
help running the show throughout the year and the trainers 
and Physio’s who keep us held together. It of course goes 
without saying that our greatest thanks go to our loved ones 
who not only facilitate but often actively encourage us to get 
out there and run around with our mates and cause physical 
harm to each other.

In what will most likely be my last full year at the helm of 
the mighty Fours I would like to thank everyone that has 
been a part of my journey with this club. From a spritely 
6-year-old playing in under 7’s, through to a broken old man 
“running” around with his mates this year, I’ve experienced 
it all while wearing the Red and White. Grand final wins in 
undefeated seasons, devastating years full of losses, injuries, 
comebacks, and all the nights having a drink and reliving it 
all. Rugby is a hell of a game and this is one hell of a club to 
play it at. We are Vikings, we are Proud! 

Grant Lukins 
Fours Captain/Coach

4TH GRADE 
REPORT
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ROUND HOME TEAM RESULT AWAY TEAM VENUE

1 Tuggeranong 24-0 Gungahlin Viking Park

2 Goulburn 33-24 Tuggeranong Simon Poidevin Oval

3 Tuggeranong 27-0 RMC Viking Park

4 ADFA 47-17 Tuggeranong Dowsett Field

5 Royals 19-7 Tuggeranong Phillip Oval

6 Hall 17-38 Tuggeranong Hall Showground

7 Tuggeranong v BYE

8 Tuggeranong 50-33 Wests Viking Park

9 Tuggeranong 64-5 Uni-Norths Viking Park

10 Queanbeyan 45-40 Tuggeranong Campese Oval

11 Cooma 5-68 Tuggeranong Rotary Oval

12 Tuggeranong v BYE

13 Tuggeranong 20-0 Hall Viking Park

14 Tuggeranong 34-0 Wests Viking Park

Semi Tuggeranong 29-7 Uni-North Viking Park

Semi Queanbeyan 15-12 Tuggeranong Viking Park

Prelim Tuggeranong 19-20 Wests Viking Park

GF
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After the great Premiership success of 2018, 2019 looked 
on paper to be a strong season for the Viqueens. With nine 
players selected for the Brumbies Super W squad and a 
number of younger players joining the squad during pre-
season we were hopeful of another good season. However 
with season ending injuries and retirements to key players 
we soon realized that the season was not going to be easy.

Pre-season focus was on key personal skills and strength in 
contact as we now had a group of ladies coming into grade 
for the first time. Our approach was very much too develop 
the newer players rather than progress the experienced 
ones. I would like to thank my assistant coach Peter Hawke 
for his efforts in designing and implementing core drills at 
trainings which further helped developed the newer players.

With the Representative season running during the early 
months of the season it was very hard to design a squad 
training program. The commitments of our rep players and 
at times a shortage of other player numbers at trainings 
resulted in a very disjointed start to the season. We 
competed very well in the pre-season tens competition and 
had some success over Sydney teams at the Kiama sevens. 
Thanks to Geoff Adam for driving the bus and helping us 
with coaching during the season as well.

During 2019 season, 25 players were given the opportunity 
to start in the Viqueens squad. However due to ongoing 
injuries and unavailability we seldom had more than fifteen 
able to play and most times less than that. To the ladies 
credit we competed with success against all the other  
Clubs during the main season. Our approach to matches 
was a little different in that we were developing players on  
a Saturday rather than at trainings during the week.  
The players showed great pride and spirit to win matches 
on several occasions when we had far less players available 
than our opposition. Our early matches in the finals once 
again saw us suffer from yet more injuries and in the end we 
simply ran out of players to be a serious threat to the top 
teams. 

I would like to thank all the players for their attitude during 
matches; they showed enough rugby ability as a team to 
scare all of our opposition and given a little luck our results 
could have been very different.

We had two ladies represent at the national level with 
Michaela Leonard and Shellie Milward both selected for the 
Wallaroos in 2019. Ema Masi and Remi Wilton were selected 
for the Uni 7’s squad.

The team and I were fortunate to have the support of many 
people during the season and it is important that the team 
recognise their efforts.

Peta Leddy who assisted me as team manager for the 
season was once again a major driving force behind the 
team. Her relationships with the players, work ethic and 
professionalism and determination to play again after injury 
were key factors in the team’s successes. 

Thanks to Ryne, Nick and Lee who were all supportive and 
understanding of our needs during the 2019 season.

Our medical support staff including Doc, Kate, Colleen Gould 
and Damien Davies, and all the staff associated once again 
provided the best professional services to the team that 
could be asked for.

Viqueen’s Awards 2019

Players Player 
Ema Masi

Best and Fairest 
Rhianna Burke

Coaches Award 
Peta Leddy

Lastly thanks to the two major groups involved with the 
Viqueens.  Our supporters who this season were great in 
their efforts to support and at times lift the team to victory 
and the players themselves who throughout the season  
all contributed greatly. Thank you for your friendships,  
your continued commitment, and your enthusiasm for the 
game and the Vikings Rugby Club.

Graham Reed 
Viqueens Coach

VI-QUEENS 
REPORT
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ROUND HOME TEAM RESULT AWAY TEAM VENUE

1 Tuggeranong v BYE

2 Tuggeranong 5-7 Royals Viking Park

3 Wests 0-8 Tuggeranong Weetangera Oval

4 Easts 12-10 Tuggeranong Griffith Oval

5 Tuggeranong 17-15 Uni-North Viking Park

6 Tuggeranong v BYE

7 Tuggeranong 56-0 Wests Viking Park

8 Easts 12-17 Tuggeranong Griffith Oval

9 Uni-North 20-0 Tuggeranong North Oval

10 Tuggeranong 17-7 Royals Viking Park

Semi Uni-North 29-10 Tuggeranong Viking Park

Semi Tuggeranong 7-41 Royals Viking Park

Prelim

GF
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Player 1st Grade 
Games

Other 
Grade 

Games

All Time 
Total 

Games

Cordy Richard 71 282 353

Adam Geoffrey 86 228 314

Mcintosh Graeme 115 150 265

Mokotupu Beau 184 54 238

Mcnicol Bryce 7 230 237

Montgomery Colin 110 127 237

Smith Matthew 0 236 236

Henry Michael 113 122 225

Dickson Andrew 58 165 223

Ramsden Omar 2 221 223

Stripp Graham 24 195 219

Austin David 95 121 216

Petersen Duane 54 160 214

Crane Terry 0 210 210

Sinclair Gavin 1 206 207

Slater Ryan 6 201 207

Bowen Martin 184 22 206

Adam Daryl 19 185 204

Sidney Timothy 0 203 203

Assenheim David 85 117 202

Brew Anthony 74 126 200

Paull David 121 79 200

Burrows Michael 25 169 194

Mewett Peter 0 184 184

Joyes Richard 30 153 183

Mcnicol Lachlan 81 99 180

Rosiak Brian 126 54 180

Kelly Anthony 135 44 179

Waller Michael 17 162 179

Cotterill Dean 13 161 174

Miller Ian 38 135 173

York Anthony 15 155 170

Hayes Gregory 0 167 167

O’Brien Martyn 128 39 167

O’Brien Toby 0 163 163

Evenden David 21 141 162

Moore Stephen 119 42 161

Talaina Andrew 9 152 161

Lukins Grant 0 156 156

Boswell Lee 9 146 155

Chapman Raymond 64 91 155

Browne Dean 23 130 153

Gibson John 13 139 152

Taula Sione 140 11 151

Hunt Gavin 1 146 147

Dudgeon Stephen 0 146 146

Ball Daryl 28 115 143

Robey Daniel 17 125 142

Blackmore Sean 3 138 141

Hutchinson Timothy 97 44 141

Ryan Paul 20 121 141

Vrankovic Nicholas 8 132 140

ALL TIME  
GAME TABLE
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ALL TIME  
GAME TABLE 

(CONT)

Dempsey Lawrence 0 136 136

Apps Geoffrey 70 65 135

Preston Mark 44 91 135

Sayle Jason 0 135 135

Sidney Jason 0 134 134

Bryant Michael 0 131 131

Ivill Douglas 0 131 131

Willoughby-Thomas 
Joe

40 91 131

Callaway Mark 5 125 130

Combe James 51 79 130

Hayes Heath 43 86 129

Jensen Mark 9 120 129

Roberts Neil 16 113 129

Sheridan Anthony 1 126 127

Shonk Matthew 62 65 127

Lealiifano Eneliko 55 69 124

Scrivener Nicholas 69 55 124

Sydlarczuk Neil 52 72 124

Cooper Bob 0 123 123

Steele Andrew 0 123 123

Jones Fergus 0 121 121

Leach Anthony 0 121 121

Stephenson Baden 102 19 121

McHugh Jared 0 120 120

O’Ryan Matthew 0 120 120

Mynhardt Jean Pierre 36 83 119

Reyn Michael 5 114 119

Armstrong Mark 27 90 117

Carney Thomas 17 100 117

Cross Bruce 33 84 117

Jones Toby 0 117 117

Talua-MacArthur Tim 11 106 117

Vaughan Joshua 56 61 117

Bryant Kelvin 0 116 116

West Colin 0 116 116

Henman Blake 34 81 115

Banks Riley 0 114 114

Fitzgerald Peter 2 112 114

Naylor Brett 58 56 114

Collis Greg 0 113 113

Culican Anthony 0 113 113

Knight Jake 105 8 113

Vainakolo, Israel 28 83 111

Wheeler Keane 36 74 110

Cook Scott 0 109 109

Mara Aidan 29 80 109

Fraser Andrew 49 59 108

Shaw Cameron 4 104 108

Agius Michael 89 17 106

Hiscox Paul 1 105 106

Leggoe Kenneth 0 106 106

Wade Matthew 0 106 106

Fredricks Alan* 70 35 105
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ALL TIME  
GAME TABLE 
(CONT)

Grimmond David 36 69 105

Rewi-Wetini James 0 105 105

Taueki Brendon 67 38 105

Wardle Stephen 5 100 105

Doogan Matthew 0 104 104

Seivers Peter 1 103 104

Blencowe Thomas 3 100 103

Hitchins Joshua 46 57 103

Zammit Edward 4 99 103

Briggs Steven 5 97 102

Milligan Ross 12 90 102

Ryan Paul 4 98 102

O’Connell John 0 101 101

Apps Andrew 94 6 100

Cross Kevin 4 96 100
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ALL TIME  
POINTS TABLE 

Player Points

DICKSON ANDREW 2524

AUSTIN DAVID 1229

ASSENHEIM DAVID 1146

MCNICOL BRYCE 1109

STEPHENSON 
BADEN

1054

WALLER MICHAEL 855

GIBSON JOHN 845

APPS ANDREW 761

COOK PHILLIP 715

ARMSTRONG MARK 698

STEELE ANDREW 690

TAUEKI, BRENDON 683

MOKOTOPU BEAU 657

REWI-WETINI, JAMES 635

GRIMMOND DAVID 586

IONA, RODNEY 576

MYNHARDT, JEAN 
PIERRE

559

O’BRIEN TOBY 539

SAYLE JASON 534

GOODALL ANDREW 505

CALLAWAY MARK 502

VAINIKOLO ISRAEL 493

YORK ANTHONY 491

CULNANE LEE 490

MARA AIDAN 481

DUNLEY BEAU 480

KNIGHT, JAKE 475

MACKEN, JAYDEN 461

GUFF MATTHEW 448

PRESTON MARK 444

WESSELS EMILLE 439

CROWE VAUGHN 426

MCINTOSH GRAEME 407

SHAW CAMERON 407

RAMSDEN OMAR 395

EDMONDS MANUEL 385

MURRAY, NICK 378

SIDNEY TIMOTHY 377

ROSIAK BRIAN 349

ROBEY DANIEL 346

AXELSON, 
WILLOUGHBY

345

O’BRIEN MARTYN 345

FORDHAM AARON 343

COLLIS GREG 337

BOSWELL LEE 330

THOMPSON, ISAAC 327

MALONEY DAN 326

CORNFORD TODD 315

MILLER IAN 314

MATTHEWS JOE 307

MORRIS SIMON 307

JONES FERGUS 305

OBAD ANDREW 305

NICHOLLS BRAD 303

TALAINA, ANDREW 302

LEWIS SCOTT 299

BROWNE DEAN 287

CRAWFORD DAVID 277

HEARD BRUCE 276

JOYES, RICHARD 275

STANFORD TAYLA 274

WADE MATTHEW 272

LONERGAN RYAN 270

EVENDEN DAVID 269

GILTRAP SAM 268

JONES TOBY 265

BARNETSON, 
MICHAEL

264

BENNETT GAVIN 263

PETERSEN DUANE 263

HOGAN, LUKE 262

ROBINSON, 
ANDREW

260

GOWEN ADAM 247

SUAVAI, ERNEST 241

AUSTIN JEREMY 240

GILLETT HEATH 235

VRANKOVIC 
NICHOLAS

235
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ALL TIME  
POINTS TABLE 

(CONT)

REID, JACK 232

EVENDEN JACK 230

MCLAUGHLAN EDDIE 230

NIOVANNI, STEVE 229

LUKINS, GRANT 227

O’NEIL STEPHEN 226

O’CONNELL JOHN 225

JONES BRENDAN 223

CREE, TIM 220

KENNEDY SHANE 220

SLATER, RYAN 218

CURRAN TIM 215

MACK BRUCE 215

NIUMATA, JEROME 215

THOMAS, SAM 215

CARNEY, THOMAS 214

GUBLER, DAMIEN 210

PAHL SAM 210

KNIGHTS, JORDAN 205

LLOYD 
CHRISTOPHER

205

MAHONY SHAUN 205

MUTUTU, JEREMY 205

PAULL DAVID 205

SCRIVENER 
NICHOLAS

199

PERKINS PHILLIP 198

BROWN KATE 196

FIELD, JAMES 196

BLENCOWE, 
THOMAS

195

ECCLES PAUL 195

DUDGEON STEPHEN 194

RAKIC, JAKE 190

COOPER GRAHAM 188

RAVOUVOU, MAIKA 185

BURROWS MICHAEL 184

CROWE, ANTHONY 184

FITZGERALD PETER 182

SYDLARCZUK NEIL 182

BANKS, RILEY 180

CARBERRY BILLY 180

LANGTRY, JOE 177

TURNER RILEY 175

HOLMES, ZACK 173

COMBE JAMES 170

SCOTLAND ANDREW 168

FAKALOLO, GEORGE 167

SCERRI BLAKE 166

SOLOFUTI MARLON 165

BRYANT KELVIN 164

SOGAL EMILY 162
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A fantastic year for Rugby in the Capital with the 
Brumbies having a strong season finishing on top 
of the Australian conference rankings and just falling 
short of a berth in the Grand Final, our Canberra 
Vikings doing us proud in the National Rugby 
Championship late last year, even the Wallabies 
recorded a historic victory over the All Blacks and our 
senior Vikings club leading the way in local rugby just 
falling short by one point in the ACT Premier Rugby 1st 
Grade final. Our own Viking Junior Boys and Girls took 
to the field in strong numbers and continue to lead the 
charge in 2019. 17 Vikings teams took to the paddock 
from our little champions in the Under 7s Walla Rugby 
format through to our young men in the Under 18s 
and 2 teams in our Girls competition in the Under 14 
and 16 age groups.

This year the ACT Junior Rugby Union introduced 
a new system which was to entice teams to test 
themselves in the top division. Vikings have always 
challenged ourselves in the top division but this new 
system would result in most of our teams qualifying 
for finals in their respective age groups. This meant 
for a tough season for some but most exceeded 
expectations with only a couple of teams being 
relegated at the mid-season break but most held 
strong and competed well throughout the year.

In a season wrap-up; we had 12 teams eligible 
for finals, 11 qualify for semi-finals and following a 
successful day at Gowrie we had 8 of these teams 
advancing to their respective grand finals, this was 
the strongest number of teams represented by 
any school or club, a fantastic achievement by our 
amazing coaching staff and team officials. At Viking 
Park for the grand final weekend we had a terrific 
start by the Under 9s winning their Division 1 final 
in emphatic style before the Under 14s and 16s fell 
short in their attempt at Division 1 glory. That was just 
the Saturday! The Sunday morning had our Under 
11s kick off the day with a win in the 3rd Division final 

followed by the Under 12s winning their Division 2 
grand final. The Under 13s were to follow and after a 
disastrous lead up to their final which saw a number of 
injuries, illnesses and unavailability to key players were 
extremely unlucky to fall short in their Division 2 final 
by 1 point. The Under 14 Girls were hunting for back 
to back glory in their Division 1 final and managed to 
pull victory from the jaws of defeat after stripping the 
ball off a Cooma player in a game winning position 
to have the eventual man of the match, try scoring 
extraordinaire Lara Cosgrove, run full length of the 
field to win the game at the other end to record their 
back to back titles in the competition. The Under 15 
Boys were the last to take the field for their grand final 
and after a quality game which saw a tight tussle on 
the scoreboard and the Cooma side only needing to 
kick the ball out to win the game only for our boys 
to retrieve the ball and score in the corner to win 
the game and secure victory with the conversion 
completing a successful grand final weekend which 
saw us win 5 titles and finish the strongest club in the 
ACT Junior Rugby Union for 2019.

From a club perspective the year had its challenges, 
but once again, a small group of dedicated committee 
members have allowed for the season to be as 
successful as it was. Some of the clubs’ endeavors 
were the Gala Day in April which continues to grow 
and is anticipated by most clubs in Canberra and the 
surrounding regions as a great chance to shake off the 
cobwebs and get out on the paddock. Our Trivia Night 
was a great social event and a valuable fundraising 
opportunity for the club, spearheaded by a number of 
our dedicated committee members.

The club has once again been well supported by the 
Vikings Group and Vikings senior rugby club along 
with our major sponsors CFR Electrical and Makwara 
Solutions. Also receiving support from Callida 
Consulting, Michael Thompson Photography and our 
awesome coffee lady Anna Gatdula with Coffee Loco. 



The monies received through sponsorship allow us to 
keep player fees at an affordable level and keep rugby 
a viable option for families in our area and beyond and 
the support is greatly appreciated! 

The club is very grateful to the Vikings premier rugby 
club committee and staff for assisting us in coaching 
and player development, as well as their involvement  
in behind the scenes movements within the club.  
In particular, I’d like to thank Brendan Allardyce and 
Ryne Bowden for their insight and support at the 
committee level, as well as Nick Scrivener and Lee 
Boswell for their efforts with the ever expanding Junior 
Development Squad program and support for our 
coaches and for all of the senior players who took time 
out of their busy schedules to help out with our teams; 
whether it was attending a training session,  
jersey presentations and supporting at the games,  
your involvement is invaluable for our players and 
greatly appreciated by all.

For all our volunteers who have assisted and 
contributed to this great club in every aspect from 
cooking the bbq or setting up and packing down the 
fields to coordinating major events, our amazing team 
officials who provide first aid, team management and 
coaching for our teams or to the few but fierce group  
of champions who have taken on the crucial committee 
roles, a massive thank you is owed to you all and 
know that this year would never be the success it has 
been without your tireless and diligent efforts. Special 
mention to our committee members; Anthony Davies 
- Club Vice President, champion coach and my right 
hand man, Dereck Honeysett - Club Vice President 
and Under 12s coach, Fiona Lonergan - a tireless 
secretary, fantastic trivia night coordinator and all round 
legend, Tania Honeysett - registrar, team manager 
and “everywhere” lady, Melinda Davies - our website 
design and Facebook guru, Lauren Webb - our tireless 
canteen manager, Justin Annetts and Rebecca Cotter 
taking on the First Aid team and doing a great job in 

a challenging position, Sandi Grant for overseeing all 
our financial movements as Treasurer and also one 
of our major sponsors of the club with Bruce at CFR 
Electrical and Kimalee Ramsden for stepping up to the 
merchandise managers role and doing a fantastic job. 
You are all amazing people and have given above and 
beyond what is expected and our club is lucky to have 
you all leading the way for Vikings Junior Rugby!

This will be my last year as President and I’ve been 
blessed to have met so many great people in our 
community! It has been a humbling experience for 
me to be an influence in our next generation and I 
encourage everyone to get involved in the committee 
and add some real value to our young people’s lives.  
I look forward to the future for our club and hope for  
a bigger and better 2020 with registration opening  
early next year. Go you mighty Vikings!!

Yours in rugby,

Andrew Henderson 
President 2019
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VIKINGS RUGBY  
PERSONNEL 

COMMITTEE

President Brendan Allardyce

Vice-President Geoff Adam

Treasurer Ryan Slater

Committee Member Duane Petersen

Michael Henry

Stef Stewart-Jones

David Grimmond

Russell Ott

Club Captain Callum Smith

RUGBY STAFF

Coaching Director Nick Scrivener

Rugby Manager Ryne Bowden

Pathways and S & C 
Manager

Lee Boswell

TEAMS

1st Grade Coach Nick Scrivener

Assistant Gareth Clouston

Manager Greg Hayes

Assistant Manager Rory McQuinn

2nd Grade Coach Brendan Allardyce

Assistant Duane Petersen

Assistant Lix Lealiifano

Assistant Beau Mokotupu

Manager Ian Chattin

Assistant Manager Peter Chapman

Colts Coach Robbie Kydd

Assistant James Foster

Manager Dean Browne

Assistant Manager David Paull

3rd Grade Coach Gavin Sinclair

Assistant Heath Garrett

Assistant Matt Wafer

Assistant Freddie Pitasi

Manager Brendon Montgomery

4th Grade Coach Grant Lukins

Assistant Freddie Pitasi

Assistant Geoff Adam

Manager Michael Bryant

Vi-Queens Coach Graham Reed

Assistant Peter Hawke

Assistant Geoff Adam

Manager Peta Leddy

SUPPORT STAFF

Club Doctor Dr Peter Cole

Head Physiotherapist Kate Wafer

Trainer Damien Davies

Trainer Andrew Glew

Trainer Colleen Gould

Trainer Chrisy Richardson

Trainer Laura King
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VIKINGS RUGBY  
REP PLAYERS 

REPRESENTATIVE PLAYERS

Australian 20’s Lachlan Lonergan
Noah Lolesio

Wallabies Scott Sio
Christian Lealiifano
Joe Powell

Tonga Vunipola Fifita

ACT Schoolboys Daryl Bailey

Brumbies Scott Sio
Christian Lealiifano
Joe Powell
Vunipola Fifita
Len Ikitau
Jordan Jackson-Hope
Ben Hyne
Ryan Lonergan
Darcy Swain
Lachlan Lonergan
Noah Lolesio

Canberra Vikings Angus Allen
Luke Gersekowski
Lachlan Lonergan
Darcy Swain
Angus Wagner
Len Ikitau
Noah Lolesio
Ryan Lonergan
Joe Powell
Andrew Robinson
Seamus Smith

Brumbies Super W Carly Hill
Emily Sogal
Michaela Leonard
Peta Cox
Remi Wilton
Shellie Milward
Stefanie Stewart-Jones
Tayla Stanford

Aon Uni 7s Michaela Leonard
Remi Wilton
Ema Masi

Brumbies Academy Angus Allen
Seamus Smith
Angus Wagner
Tom Hooper
Billy Carberry




